UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 99-51091

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
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VERSUS

G LBERT GARCI A, JR.,
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Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas
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Bef ore H GA NBOTHAM and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges, and KENT," District
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SAMUEL B. KENT, District Judge:
Defendant G lbert Garcia Jr. appeals his conviction and

sentence for conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute a

"District Judge of the Southern District of Texas, sitting
by desi gnati on.



quantity of marijuana and ai ding and abetting the possession with
the intent to distribute a quantity of marijuana. He argues: (1)
that the evidence was insufficient to sustain his conviction for
aiding and abetting, (2) that the District Court erred in denying
his requested downward adjustnment for mnor participation in the
of fense, and (3) that under the recent decision of the United

States Suprene Court in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U S. 466, 120

S. . 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000), the issue of drug quantity
shoul d have been included in the indictnent and charged to the
jury. For the reasons stated below, we affirmhis conviction, but

vacate his sentence and remand for resentencing.

| . BACKGROUND

Defendant G lbert Garcia Jr. was indicted for conspiracy to
possess with an intent to distribute marijuana in violation of 21
US C 8§ 841(a)(1) and 21 U.S.C. § 846 (Count One) and aiding and
abetting the possession of marijuana with an intent to distribute
in violation of 21 U S.C 8§ 841(a)(1l) and 18 U S.C. §8 2 (Counts
Three and Six). The Governnent filed notice that it sought a
penal ty enhancenent under 21 U. S.C. 8 841(b)(1)(A) for offenses
i nvol ving nore than 1000 kil ograns of marijuana.

The evidence at trial showed that Defendant allowed his truck
mai nt enance facility to be used to store marijuana for a Mexican
drug di stribution operation headed by Omar Rubi 0. The organi zation
smuggl ed marijuana from Mexi co to San Antoni o, Texas where it was
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stored pending further distribution. Tractor-trailers |oaded with
marijuana were stored at Grcia' s facility on at least five
occasions. Although Garcia was present at the first delivery, he
was not present at subsequent deliveries. Garcia gave a key to the
property to one of the nmenbers of the drug distribution operation,
Rene Montes-Salinas, with instructions that he be notified of
further deliveries. Count One of the indictnment concerns the first
delivery, which took place on Septenber 24, 1998. Count Three of
the indictnment concerns an October 4, 1998 delivery, and Count Si X
concerns deliveries on Novenber 5, 1998 and Novenber 6, 1998
Garcia was pai d between $3, 000 and $5,000 for each shiprment. The
five shipnents allegedly totaled nore than 5,600 pounds of
mar i j uana.

A jury found the Defendant guilty on all three counts of the
i ndictment. Because the presentence report (“PSR’) indicated that
Garcia’s offenses involved nore than 1,000 but |ess than 3,000
kil ograns of marijuana, Garcia was assigned a base | evel of 32. See
US S G 8§ 2D1.1(c)(4). The PSR recommended that Garcia receive a
two-1 evel downward adjustnent in his offense | evel because he net
the requirements of 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6).*' The total offense | evel of 30
conbined with Garcia s crimnal history category of |, resulted in

a Sentencing Qiideline range of 97-121 nonths inprisonnent.

! This provision gives a defendant a two-1evel reduction if
he neets the requirenents of 8 5Cl.2, the “safety val ve”
provi sion discussed infra note 2.
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Because the offenses involved nore than 1,000 kilograns of
marijuana, Garcia was subject to a mandatory m ni num sentence of
ten years inprisonnent followed by five years supervised rel ease.
See 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(b)(1)(A). Because Garcia qualified under the
“safety val ve” provision of § 5Cl. 2,2 however, the PSR recomended
that Garcia be sentenced wthout regard to the nmandatory m ni num

Garcia objected to the PSR on the grounds that, anong other
things: (1) he was entitled to a two-level downward adjustnent in
his of fense pursuant to 8 3Bl1.2(b) because he played a mnor role
in the offense of which he was convicted, (2) the PSR incorrectly
determ ned the quantity of drugs involved in his offense, and (3)
the drug quantity determ nation should have been submtted to a
jury.

At sentencing, the District Judge determned that Garcia
qualified under the “safety valve” provision of § 5Cl.2 to be
sentenced without regard to the statutory mninmm sentence set
forth in 8 841(b)(1)(A). Garcia was thus sentenced to 97 nonths
i nprisonment followed by five years supervised rel ease for each of

the counts of which he was convicted, to run concurrently. He was

2 The “safety valve” allows a defendant to avoid a mandatory
mnimumif he neets certain conditions, which stated | oosely are:
(1) not having nore than 1 crimnal history point, (2) not using
vi ol ence or the credible threats of violence or possessing a
danger ous weapon in connection with the offense, (3) not causing
death or serious bodily injury, (4) not being an organizer,
| eader, or supervisor and not engaging in a continuing crimnal
enterprise, and (5) cooperating fully with the Governnent.
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al so required to pay a $300 speci al assessnent. The District Judge

overrul ed the remai ning objections. Defendant tinely appeal ed.

1. ANALYSI S

A Sufficiency of the Evidence

Def endant argues that his aiding and abetting conviction
concerning the incident on or about Cctober 4, 1998 (Count Three)
is unsupported by the evidence. He contends that the Governnent
failed to prove: (1) that he commtted an overt act designed to aid
in the success of the venture, (2) that the substance alleged to
have been distributed was in fact marijuana, or (3) how nuch
marijuana, if any, was involved. Garcia filed a nmotion for a
judgnment of acquittal challenging the sufficiency of the
Governnent’ s evidence at the close of the Governnent’s case-in-
chief and at the end of all evidence. The District Judge denied
both noti ons.

We review the denial of a notion for a judgnment of acquittal

de novo. See United States v. Geer, 137 F.3d 247, 249 (5" Cir),

cert denied, 524 U. S. 920 (1998). |In doing so, we nust consider

whet her “a rational trier of fact could have found that the
evi dence established the essential elenents of the crinme beyond a

reasonabl e doubt.” United States v. Davis, 226 F.3d 346, 354 (5'"

Cr. 2000). The Court considers “the evidence, all reasonable

i nferences drawn therefrom and all credibility determ nations in



the light nost favorable to the prosecution.” United States v.

Lopez, 74 F.3d 575, 577 (5'" Cir. 1996). Qur role does not extend
to wei ghing the evidence or assessing the credibility of wtnesses.
See id.

To convi ct a defendant for possession of marijuana with intent
to distribute, the Governnent nust prove that the defendant (1)
know ngly; (2) possessed marijuana; (3) wth the intent to
distribute. See id. To prove that a defendant aided and abetted
in the possession of marijuana with intent to distribute, the
Gover nnment nust prove that the el enents of the substantive of fense
occurred and that the defendant associated wth the crimnal
venture, purposefully participated in the crimnal activity, and
sought by his actions to nake the venture succeed. See 18 U S.C

§ 2; United States v. Delagarza-Villarreal, 141 F.3d 133, 140 (5'"

Cr. 1997). “Associ ate” neans that the defendant shares in the

principal’s crimnal intent. United States v. Jaramllo, 42 F. 3d

920, 923 (5" Cir. 1995). “Participate” neans that the defendant
engages in sone affirmati ve conduct designed to aid the venture or
assists the perpetrator of the crine. 1d. A Defendant “need not
have actual or constructive possession of the drugs to be guilty of
ai ding and abetting possession with intent to distribute.” United

States v. Wllians, 985 F.2d 749, 753 (5'" Gr. 1993).

Defendant’s first argunent is that as to the October 4, 1998

of fense, the record does not contain evidence that he actively



participated in furthering the crimnal activity. The evidence at
trial established that Defendant: (1) was infornmed of the delivery
to his property and suggested that it be done at night, (2) was
al so i nforned when the truck arrived, and (3) was i nforned the next
day when the drivers left his |ot.

Def endant cl ains that the only evidence of affirmative conduct
on this occasion was his suggestion that the unloading take pl ace
at night.® This evidence, standing alone, Defendant argues, is
insufficient to support his aiding and abetting conviction.
Def endant al so argues that his previous act of giving the key to
his property cannot be considered as evidence here because such
only aided a general schene of possession of marijuana, not the

specific offense on Cctober 4, 1998. See United States v. Lonbardi,

138 F.3d 559, 561 (5" Cir. 1998) (hol ding that the Government nust
show t hat Def endant ai ded and abetted the specific crine, not just
the overall schene).

W concl ude, however, that Defendant’s assent on thi s occasi on

® Aparty to a continuing conspiracy may be crinmnally
liable for a substantive offense commtted by a co-conspirator in
furtherance of the conspiracy, even though the party does not
participate in the substantive offense, or have any know edge of
it. See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U. S. 640, 647, 66 S. C
1180, 1183, 90 L. Ed. 1489 (1946); United States v. Acosta, 763
F.2d 671, 681 (5'" GCir. 1985). However, a jury nust be given an
instruction under this theory, a so-called Pinkerton instruction,
to be so convicted. See United States v. Pierce, 893 F. 2d. 669,
676 (5'" Cir. 1990); United States v. Basey, 816 F.2d 980, 999
(5" Cir. 1987). As Defendant points out, the jury was not given
this Pinkerton instruction. Thus, his aiding and abetting
convi ction cannot rest on a conspiracy theory.
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to the use of his property for the storage of marijuana constitutes
the requisite affirmative conduct to support his aiding and
abetting conviction. Defendant did not have to physically appear
on his property to be guilty of the offense. Just as the nere
presence at the scene of the crine is not sufficient, by itself, to
support aiding and abetting liability,* nere absence fromthe scene

does not, by itself, negate such liability. See Collins v. United

States, 65 F.2d 545, 547 (5'" Cr. 1933).

Def endant’ s second argunent is that the Governnent’ s evi dence
did not establish that the substance stored on his property on
Cctober 4, 1998 was in fact marijuana. Defendant notes that no
wtness testified that they saw nmarijuana. The Governnent’s
W tness was not at the property on the day in question, and the
surveillance officers did not see the contents of the shipnent.
The Governnent responds, however, that there is substantial
evi dence that the shipnent was marijuana. This evidence includes
testinony that: (1) the other participants were seeking a place
“where marijuana could be unloaded,” (2) Defendant agreed to use
his property specifically for the unl oading of marijuana, (3) on a
previ ous occasi on, Defendant was present at the tine of delivery to
verify that the substance was marijuana, (4) Defendant woul d have

been paid considerably nore to store a harder drug, such as

“See United States v. Wllianms, 341 U S. 58, 64 n.4, 71 S.
Ct. 595, 599, 95 L. Ed. 747 (1951); WlIllians, 485 F.2d at 753.
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cocai ne. From this testinony, a jury could reasonably have
inferred that the substance unl oaded on Cctober 4, 1998, for which
Def endant was paid thousands of dollars to store, was in fact
marij uana, and not Tootsie Rolls.

Defendant’s final argunent is that the Governnent failed to
prove the quantity of marijuana. The Governnent was not required,
however, to prove drug quantity to sustain a conviction under 8§
841. See 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a). Drug quantity is relevant only to
Defendant’s Apprendi argunent, discussed infra.

Because the evidence was sufficient to convict Defendant of
ai ding and abetting the possession of marijuana with the intent to
distribute, we affirmhis conviction and sentence for the Cctober

4, 1998 of fense.

B. Adjustnent for Mnor Participation

Def endant argues that he should have received a two-Ileve
downward adj ustnent under the Sentencing Quidelines for being a
m nor participant in crimnal activity. See U S S G § 3Bl1.2(hb).

The Quidelines’ comentary defines “mnor participant” as “any
participant who is | ess cul pable than nost other participants but
whose role could not be described as mnimal.” U S S. G § 3Bl.2,
cnt. n.3. The commentary also indicates that to qualify, the

Def endant nust be “substantially less culpable.” See U S . S. G 8§

3B1.2, cnt. background. A defendant has the burden of show ng that



he is entitled to the dowmward adjustnent. See United States v.

Mar ol ej o, 106 F.3d 1213, 1217 (5" Cir. 1997). Mnor participation
is a “sophisticated factual determnation,” to be nade by the

sentencing judge. United States v. Gall egos, 868 F.2d 711, 713 (5'"

Cr. 1989). The determnation is to be made in light of all
relevant conduct (“all conduct within the scope of § 1B1.3
(Rel evant Conduct)”), “not solely on the basis of elenents and acts
cited in the count of conviction.” See U S.S.G ch.3, pt. B,
i ntroductory comment. The sentencing judge nust “articulate the
factual basis for the finding that [defendant] was an average

participant.” See United States v. Melton, 930 F. 2d 1096, 1099 (5'"

Cr. 1991). But see &Gllegos, 868 F.2d at 713 (“[A] sinple

statenent that Defendant was not a ‘mnor participant’ wll
suffice”). W review a judge’'s finding in this regard under a

clearly erroneous standard. See United States v. Mirrow, 177 F.3d

272, 304-5 (51" Gir.), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 932 (1999).

Initially, Defendant disputes that he nmust be “substantially
| ess cul pable” to qualify as a mnor participant. He argues that
the comentary defines “mnor participant” sinply as “less
cul pable” and that the commentary is binding on the sentencing

court. See United States v. Stinson, 508 U S. 36, 38, 113 S. (Ct.

1913, 1915, 123 L. Ed. 2d 598 (1993)(“[Clommentary in the
Guidelines Manual that interprets or explains a guideline is
authoritative unless it violates the Constitution or a federal

statute, or is inconsistent with, or a plainly erroneous reading
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of, that guideline.”). The Quidelines’ commentary, however, uses
the phrase “substantially |less culpable.” See U S S. G § 3Bl. 2.
cnt. background. Moreover, our decisions, both before and after
the Suprenme Court clarified in Stinson that the comentary is
bi ndi ng, have held that a defendant nust be “substantially |ess
cul pable than the average participant” to qualify as a mnor

participant. United States v. Brown, 54 F.3d 234, 241 (5" Cir.

1995); see also United States v. Thomas, 963 F.2d 63, 65 (5" Cir.

1992); United States v. Buenrostro, 868 F.2d 135, 138 (5" Cir.

1988) .

Def endant argues that he was sinply a small cog in a large
wheel . The organi zation for which he provi ded services, Defendant
notes, was a far-flung drug operation based in Mexico wth
approxi mately one hundred participants, operating since the late
1980s i n several states including Texas, Arkansas, and Fl ori da, and
reputed to snuggle a ton of marijuana and cocai ne across the Texas
border per week. In conparison to the scope of the operation,
Def endant argues, his role was m nor. Defendant objected on these
grounds to the PSR which recomended against the downward
adj ustnent. The sentenci ng Judge overrul ed the objection, stating
t hat Defendant “supplied a place for these drugs to be housed and
st ored when t hey were brought fromMexico, unl oaded and transported
to other destinations.”

Section 3Bl.2 does not contenplate that the participation

level is to be evaluated in reference to the entire crimnal
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enterprise of which Defendant is a part. See United States v.

Burnett, 66 F.3d 137, 140 (7'" Cr. 1995)(“3B1.2 does not ask
whet her the defendant was mnor in relation to the organization
it asks . . . whether he was mnor . . . in relation to the
conduct for which he was has been held accountable.”). Instead,
section 3Bl1.2 asks whether a defendant’s invol venent is conparable

to that of an “average participant.” Buenrostro, 868 F.2d at 138.

Def endant all owed his property to be used as a stash house. He was
present for the first delivery and was kept abreast of subsequent
deliveries. One of the Governnent’s witnesses testified that the
organi zation could not function wthout Defendant’s “shop.”

Furthernore, Defendant was paid for each delivery. Most
i nportantly, however, Defendant was not held responsible for the
entire crimnal history of the drug organization. Rat her, his
sentence was based on conduct in which he was directly involved,
nanmely drug storage on his property. As such, his role was not
m nor, but actually coextensive with the conduct for which he was

hel d accountable. See Marnblejo, 106 F.3d at 1217 (hol ding that

because only the drugs defendant actually transported were
attributed to himin calculating his sentence, he was not a m nor

participant in relation to the offense); United States v. Atanda,

60 F.3d 196, 199 (5" Cir. 1995 (“[When a sentence is based on an
activity in which a defendant was actually involved, § 3Bl.2 does
not require a reduction in the base offense | evel even though the

defendant’s activity in a | arger conspiracy may have been m nor or
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mniml.”). We conclude, therefore, that the District Judge’'s
finding that Defendant was not a m nor partici pant was not clearly

erroneous.

C. Drug Quantity and Apprendi

At oral argunent, the parties were in agreenent as to the
ef fect of the recent decision of the United States Suprene Court in
Apprendi on this case: Defendant’s term of supervised release
shoul d be reduced fromfive years to three years. W agree, but
hol d that under the facts of this case Apprendi al so requires that
Defendant’s term of inprisonment be reduced from 97 nonths to no
nore than 60 nonths.?®

Under Apprendi, “[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction,
any fact that increases the penalty for a crinme beyond the
prescribed statutory maxi mum nmust be submtted to a jury, and
proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” 530 U S at — 120 S. C. at

2362-3. We recently held in United States v. Doqgett, that when

> Def endant did not challenge his prison sentence in his
Apprendi argunent either in his brief or at oral argunent.
Al t hough an argunent not raised on appeal is ordinarily deened
abandoned or waived, the Court may consider it on its own accord
when mani fest injustice would otherwi se occur. United States v.
Quiroz, 22 F.3d 489, 490-91 (2™ Cir. 1994); cf. United States
v. Wnn, 948 F.2d 145, 157 (5'" Cr. 1991)(holding that in the
absence of manifest injustice, the Court will not consider
argunents raised for the first tinme in appellant’s reply brief).
It would be manifestly unjust under the circunstances to ignore
the clear-cut, nmechanical application of Apprendi to Defendant’s
prison sentence sinply because Defendant did not ask for all the
relief to which he was entitled.
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the Governnent seeks enhanced penalties based on the anount of
drugs under either 8 841(b)(1)(A) or (B), drug quantity is an
el ement of the offense that nust be submitted to a jury under

Apprendi. See United States v. Doggett, 230 F.3d 160, 164-65 (5"

Cr. 2000). Doggett clarifies, however, that when a defendant’s
sentence does not exceed the statutory maxi num aut horized by the
jury’s findings, Apprendi does not affect the sentence. See id. at

165; United States v. Meshack, 225 F. 3d 556, 575-76 (5'" Cir. 2000),

cert. denied, 121 S. C. 834 (2001).

In the case before us, drug quantity was neither stated in the
indictment nor charged to the jury. Defendant challenged his
sentence on these grounds at the sentencing hearing. Thus, he has
adequately preserved error, and the issue is before us on de novo

review. See Doqgett, 230 F.3d at 165. Al t hough Def endant was

sentenced without regard to the penalty enhancenent that the
Governnent sought under 21 U S.C 8§ 841(b)(1)(A), his sentence
neverthel ess exceeded the statutory nmaxi mum authorized by the
jury’s findings. Wthout a jury determnation of drug quantity,
the default sentencing provision for a marijuana conviction is

provided by 8 841(b)(1)(D).®> See United States v. Sal azar-Flores,

> § 841(b) (1) (D) governs convictions involving | ess than 50
kil ograns of marijuana. Sentencing Defendant beyond the maxi num
provi ded by 8 841(b)(1)(D) necessarily attributes 50 kil ograns or
nmore of marijuana to Defendant and hence runs afoul of Apprendi.
Doggett enployed 8§ 841(b)(1)(C) as the default, but the case
i nvol ved net hanphet am ne to which 8 841(b) (1) (D) does not apply.
See Doggett, 230 F.3d at 162.
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2001 W 25691, * 2 (5" Cr. Jan. 25, 2001); United States V.

Ni chol son, 231 F.3d 445, 454 (8" Cir. 2000); United States V.

Rogers, 228 F.3d 1318, 1327 n. 15 (11" Cir. 2000); United States v.

Nor dby, 225 F.3d 1053, 1059 (9" Cir. 2000). Under § 841(b)(1)(D),
t he maxi mumpri son sentence for a person without a prior conviction
for a felony drug offense is five years (60 nonths). Defendant’s
prison sentence of 97 nonths exceeds this maxi nrum and accordingly
nmust be reduced to no nore than 60 nonths.

Defendant’s term of supervised release nust |ikew se be
reduced, as discussed in oral argunent. Section 841(b)(1)(D) does
not itself provide a maxinmum for the term of supervised rel ease.
See 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(b)(1)(D) (stating that the term of supervised
rel ease should be at |east two years). Nonet hel ess, unless 8§
841(b) (1) (A) or (B) applies, the maxi numter mof supervised rel ease
for a marijuana offense under 8§ 841 is three years for persons
W thout a prior felony drug conviction. See 18 U.S.C. § 3583(b) (2)
(providing that “except as otherw se provided” the maxi mumterm of
supervised release for a Class C or D felony is three years);

U S S.G §85D1.2(a)(2); United States v. Kelly, 974 F.2d 22, 24 (5"

Cir. 1992)(noting that the proper termof supervised rel ease under
8§ 841(b)(1)(D) is tw to three years). Al though 8§ 841(b)(1) (A
mandates a mninmum term of five years supervised release, the
saf ety val ve provi si on shoul d have prevented t hi s nandat ory m ni mum

frombeing inposed. See U S. S.G 85D1.2, cnt. n.1; United States

V. Hendricks, 171 F.3d 1184, 1186 (8" Cir. 1999). In addition,
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because § 841(b)(1)(A) inposes, on the basis of drug quantity, a
term of supervised release greater than the statutory maxi num of
three years, under Apprendi the issue of drug quantity would have
to have been determned by the jury for this enhancenent to be

appl i ed. See Doggett, 230 F.3d at 165 n.2 (nodifying a term of

supervi sed rel ease because it exceeded the statutory naxi num of
three years). Accordingly, Defendant’s termof supervised rel ease

must be reduced fromfive years to no nore than three years.

11, CONCLUSI ON

For the reasons stated above, we AFFIRM Defendant’s
convi ction, but VACATE his sentence and REMAND the case to the

District Court for resentencing consistent with this opinion.
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